
ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


[image: image1.png]



        P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	LINDA S. ROCKSTAD, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

CHUGACH EARECKSON SUPPORT 

SERVICES,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.

	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200320305
AWCB Decision No.  08-0028
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on February  22, 2008


On January 23, 2008, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the parties’ various petitions, including the employer’s petition for modification of the reemployment benefits administrator’s (“RBA”) determination of eligibility, and the employee’s petition requesting exclusion of surveillance videos, the employee’s petition for a second independent medical evaluation (“SIME”), the employee’s petition requesting exclusion of the employer’s medical evaluation (“EME”) reports of Stephen Fuller, M.D., and Gerald Reimer, M.D., and S. David Glass, M.D.; the employee’s petition for exclusion of the August 4, 2003 medical report of Dana Campbell, ANP, Shemya Clinic.  Non-attorney representative Mary Thoeni appeared on behalf of the employee.  Attorney Robert Bredesen represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The parties stipulated to remand the RBA’s determination of eligibility to the RBA based upon the employer’s petition for modification and newly acquired evidence.  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing on January 23, 2008.


ISSUES
1. On the employer’s petition for modification of the RBA’s determination that the employee is eligible for reemployment benefits, shall the Board grant the parties’ oral stipulation to remand the determination to the RBA for consideration of newly discovered evidence under 
AS 23.20.130(a)?

2. Shall the Board grant the employee’s petition for a SIME pursuant to AS 23.30.095(k)?

3. Pursuant to 8 AAC 45.120(e), shall the Board exclude from the record surveillance videos filed by the employer?

4. Pursuant to 8 AAC 45.120(e), shall the Board exclude from the record the EME reports?

5. Pursuant to 8 AAC 45.120(e), shall the Board exclude from the record the chart note from the Shemya Clinic authored by Dana Campbell, ANP, on August 4, 2003, the date of the employee’s report of injury?

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE

The recitation of facts in this matter is not limited to those necessary to decide the issues currently before the Board, which do not involve the merits of the employee’s claim.  However, the employer has filed two petitions and the employee has filed nine petitions, one requesting a second independent medical evaluation.  A hearing was originally set for December 20, 2007, at which time the Board was to consider four petitions filed by the parties.  However, the December 20, 2007 hearing was continued.  An additional two petitions were scheduled to be heard on January 23, 2008.  Therefore, at the January 23, 2008 hearing, the Board addressed the four petitions originally scheduled to be heard on December 20, 2007, and the two petitions scheduled for hearing on January 23, 2008.  In this decision alone, the Board is addressing five petitions and the parties have agreed to continue two.  The Board, in a separate decision and order, shall consider the employee’s appeal of a discovery determination by the Board’s Designee, heard on the written record on January 29, 2008.  Considering the parties’ approach to this matter, the Board anticipates the need for numerous decisions and orders.  As such, we have determined a thorough review of the record in this case will assist us in meeting the intent of the Alaska legislature to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to employers under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (“Act”).

I.
MEDICAL HISTORY

A.
MEDICAL HISTORY PRIOR TO AUGUST 4, 2003 WORK INJURY

The employee was treated by Charles Kase, M.D., for right and left wrist deQuervain’s.  A left first dorsal wrist compartment for deQuervain’s tenosynovitis was performed on January 8, 1999.  Dr. Kase determined the employee had essentially failed surgical treatment based upon her continued complaints of pain in the area and weakness in pinch and grip strength. Dr. Kase declared her medically stable as of April 15, 1999.
  Dr. Kase conducted a closing and rating examination on April 22, 1999.  Dr. Kase rated the employee with a whole person impairment of seven percent.  He recommended scar desensitization, wrist range of motion exercises, strengthening exercises, and that no consideration be given for any further surgical intervention or injections until the employee was at least one year postop.  Dr. Kase directed the employee to avoid repetitive use activities with her left wrist.
  As of February 7, 2000, the employee was still having problems with both wrists.  Dr. Kase indicated the surgery done in January 1999 “did not help much.”  He reported the employee was not working and was having problems with her workers’ compensation claim.  Treatment options included another injection into the employee’s first dorsal wrist compartments or re-exploration of the wrist compartment to look for an unreleased tendon slip.

Prior to the August 4, 2003 report of injury, the employee had been treated at Shemya Clinic for complaints of right elbow pain and occasional right wrist pain.  The employee reported she experienced the right elbow pain when lifting dishes off the conveyor belt at work.  At the time, the employee was considering use of an anti-smoking homeopathic agent.  It was noted that the employee had bilateral carpal tunnel, diagnosed in 1999-2000.  Her current complaints were diagnosed as right lateral epicondylitis.
  The employee was issued a tennis elbow strap on February 7, 2003.


B.
MEDICAL HISTORY OF AUGUST 4, 2003 WORK INJURY

The employee worked for the employer, Chugach Eareckson Support Services, which provided support services to Eareckson Air Base on the Aleutian Chain in Shemya, Alaska.  The only medical provider in Shemya was the Shemya Clinic.  Medical providers at the clinic were employees of the employer.  

On August 4, 2003, the employee was seen in the Shemya Clinic by Dana Campbell, APN, with complaints of increased right thumb and wrist pain after starting an administrative position with the employer, which required typing and computer work.  The employee reported her pain was severe and constant, radiating up her arm and inhibiting her sleep.
  Ms. Campbell noted the employee had a history of mild intermittent, controlled right thumb and wrist pain for ten years.  The employee was diagnosed with right de Quervain’s tenosynovitis exacerbation, likely caused by repetitive use of her right hand.  She was provided and directed to use a thumb splint.
  On August 7, 2003, Ms. Campbell faxed the employee’s record of right tenosynovitis to Ward North, the adjuster in this matter, for further evaluation for purposes of workers’ compensation.
  On August 9, 2003, the employee returned to the Shemya Clinic.  She was not wearing her thumb splint and was redirected to use the splint for two to three weeks.

The employee had been treated by Charles Kase, M.D., in the past for left deQuervain’s and returned to him on September 8, 2003, based upon the development of right deQuervain tenosynovitis in her right wrist.  Dr. Kase noted the employee had been working in Shemya performing a great deal of data entry.  He ordered physical therapy and use of a thumb spica wrist splint.
  The employee attended occupational therapy at the Valley Hospital.

Eventually, Dr. Kase determined that the employee failed conservative treatment.  The employee refused to have a steroid injection into her wrist and, instead, choose to have her first dorsal wrist compartment released and a steroid injection into her lateral epicondyle.
  Release of the employee’s right first dorsal wrist compartment, partial release of the transverse carpal ligament and an injection of the right lateral epicondyle was performed on July 13, 2004.  The pre-operative and post-operative diagnoses were identical: de Quervain’s tenosynovitis, right wrist, mild carpal tunnel syndrome, and chronic lateral epicondylitis.  Dr. Kase characterized the employee’s right wrist and elbow pain as chronic and indicated that clinically, the employee had chronic de Quervain’s tenosynovitis, mild carpal tunnel syndrome, and chronic lateral epicondylitis
  

Post surgery, Dr. Kase ordered aggressive occupational therapy addressing the employee’s de Quervain’s, carpal tunnel and mild Raynaud’s conditions.  He advised the employee to stop smoking.  The employee was experiencing symptoms of acute coldness in her arm, which Dr. Kase did not see as a major problem, but indicated that if it continued, a sympathetic block may be considered.
  

On September 1, 2004, Dr. Kase noted all three areas of concern continued to cause the employee significant problems, although the lateral epicondylitis was improving.  He identified the formation of a nodule at the site of the first dorsal wrist compartment release and tenderness in the carpal tunnel incision.  Dr. Kase did not release the employee to return to work.

By September 30, 2004, Dr. Kase indicated the employee had bowstringing of her first dorsal wrist compartment tendons
 and thought the employee was developing a ganglion cyst in the proximal end of the tendon sheath.  If the employee did not improve by the end of October 2004, Dr. Kase planned on aspirating the cyst and if that did provide improvement, he intended on re-exploring the area.
  Ultimately, Dr. Kase scheduled the employee for release of her first dorsal wrist compartment through classic incision on November 30, 2004.  At that time, he intended to also remove the ganglion cyst.  The employee was not released to return to work.

On February 2, 2005, the employee was seen by George Seigfried, M.D., for persistent pain and tenderness at the first dorsal retinaculum site on the right; hyperthesia and tenderness in the right palm; and the employee's complaint of tenderness and pain in the humeral epicondyles with upper arm discomfort and decreased sensation.  Dr. Siegfried found that the employee’s left first dorsal compartment release revealed good bowstringing and a good release.  The employee had a positive Finkelstein on the right.  Dr. Siegfried indicated it was important to immobilize the employee's right thumb and he too directed her to use a thumb spica splint.  Dr. Siegfried acknowledged the controversy recording whether the employee had already undergone a surgical procedure to release the right first dorsal compartment and noted that an operative report stated it was released.  However, finding the employee needed a release of the tunnel of the right first dorsal compartment, Dr. Siegfried referred the employee to Michael McNamara, M.D., a hand specialist.

The employee was seen by Robert Thomas, PA-C, of Dr. McNamara's office.  Mr. Thomas diagnosed right elbow lateral epicondylitis and referred the employee to occupational therapy. If the employee continued to have pain and discomfort, an injection would be considered; and if that did not work, the employee would be seen by Dr. McNamara.  Mr. Thomas did not see any cause for the employee's vascular problems and could not find observable evidence on examining the employee.
  The employee attended eight sessions of occupational therapy.
  She returned to Mr. Thomas on April 4, 2005, and reported that the six weeks of occupational therapy had not decreased any of the discomfort in her elbow.  Mr. Thomas diagnosed right elbow lateral epicondylitis and right wrist de Quervain’s.  He administered a right lateral epicondylar steroid injection and scheduled the employee for an appointment with 
Dr. McNamara.
  

Upon examination, Dr. McNamara scheduled the employee for right first dorsal extensor compartment release, right lateral epicondylectomy with an extensor origin debridement, which was performed on May 11, 2005.
  Dr. McNamara referred the employee to Joella Beard, M.D., who conducted an initial evaluation on April 27, 2005.
  The employee thereafter engaged in rehabilitation.
  Four weeks after the surgical procedure, the employee reported she was 70 percent improved and happy with the results of her surgery; she did not experience numbness or tingling; and had no major complications.  Upon examination, Mr. Thomas indicated the employee’s motor and sensory function were intact, as was her neurovascular status.

In an appointment with Lois Michaud, Ph.D., the employee reported that she still had pain in her wrist and elbow.  Ms. Michaud taught and directed the employee to practice biofeedback three times per day.
  The employee continued with occupational therapy.
  

The employee had been referred to Joella Beard, M.D., by Dr. McNamara.  Dr. Beard referred the employee for psychological intervention with Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.  The employee was provided a psychiatric evaluation by Connie Judd, Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner, who  referred the employee to Rafael Prieto, M.D., for pain management, as the employee did not wish to return to Dr. Beard.
  Dr. Prieto indicated that it was premature to determine whether the employee would be able to return to her prior job.  He advised the employee that smoking causes slow healing in connective tissue.

On July 5, 2005, Dr. McNamara saw the employee for follow-up seven and a half weeks post right deQuervain’s release and right tennis elbow surgery.  He reported the employee had been doing well, but still complained of soreness in the lateral elbow with the last few degrees of extension and mild soreness in the dorsal radial wrist where the first dorsal extensor compartment was released.  Dr. McNamara indicated the employee had full supination and full pronation, was stable laterally and had negative Finkelstein’s and no crepitus; he noted mild swelling over the first dorsal extensor compartment release.  Dr. McNamara did not think the employee would be medically stable for an additional six to eight weeks.  He anticipated that by August 22, 2005, the employee would be fully stable and a permanent partial impairment rating could be done at that time.  He referred her back to Dr. Prieto to take over her care to determine if the employee could return to work or whether vocational rehabilitation was necessary and to conduct a permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) rating.
  The employee continued with occupational therapy.

Based upon new complaints of right medial elbow pain, Health Quest Therapy referred the employee back to Mr. Thomas.  Upon examination on August 9, 2005, he found the employee's range of motion in pronation and supination was full and symmetrical; and full in flexion and extension.  To address the employee's new complaints, occupational therapy was ordered.

Ms. Michaud first recommended smoking cessation techniques for the employee on August 10, 2005.  As of August 18, 2005, the employee had not fully accomplished all of the recommendations; therefore, new techniques were suggested.  The employee had reduced the number of cigarettes smoked per day from 20 to 15.  Hypnosis for smoking cessation and relief of right elbow pain was initiated.  By September 1, 2005, the employee had made no progress in smoking cessation.  She established a “quit date” of November 11, 2005.
  On September 19, 2005, Ms. Judd noted that post-traumatic stress disorder “symptoms” were present, “related to prior employer situation.”

On September 20, 2005, four months after surgery, Mr. Thomas evaluated the employee and indicated that she was medically stable; he did not see her condition changing in the next 45 days based upon the fact that it had not improved in the past four months.
  On September 22, 2005, the employee attended her final occupational therapy session and was discharged with instructions to continue with her home exercise program.  The employee was referred for a functional capacities evaluation,
 which revealed the employee was incapable of performing sedentary work for eight hours per day, as she was unable to complete the evaluation without added rest periods secondary to increased pain.
  The evaluation provides an explanation for self-limiting behavior, including that research indicates motivated patients self-limited on no more than 20 percent of test items.  The employee's measurement of supplementation was 21 percent; her stated reason for self-limiting behavior was pain.
  Factors underlying the employee's functional limitations were decreased muscle strength in wrist and elbow muscles, generalized deconditioning, pain in the wrist and elbow, and self-limiting behavior.

Dr. Prieto conducted a PPI rating on September 28, 2005.  He diagnosed the employee with chronic right upper extremity pain secondary to a repetitive motion injury manifesting as deQuervain’s stenosing tenosynovitis and right lateral epicondylosis.  Dr. Prieto indicated that this was related to the employee's industrial injury of August 4, 2003, and that the employee had reached medical stability.  Using the AMA’s Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, Dr. Prieto rated the employee with an eight percent whole person impairment.

On October 20, 2005, Dr. McNamara referred the employee back to Dr. Beard to assist with vocational rehabilitation and long-term planning for the employee's issues with work.  Dr. McNamara also highly recommended that the employee stop smoking, indicating this may be contributing to some of her symptoms.  The employee was to continue to follow with Connie Judd for depression.

On October 27, 2005, the employee reported to Lois Michaud that she believed she had done everything she was supposed to from early on at work, through her appointments with physicians.  She reported that she was leaving for Florida to spend time with friends on November 1, 2005, and that she was returning on November 30, 2005.

The employee contacted Dr. McNamara's office to point out discrepancies in details and opinions between her impressions and the notes in Dr. McNamara's chart.  On November 2, 2005, Dr. McNamara documented the employee's concerns and provided explanations to the extent possible.  He inquired whether Mr. Thomas examined the employee for a golfer’s elbow or pain in the medial elbow.  Because Mr. Thomas had not examined her for those conditions, no notes were contained in the employee’s chart.
  Dr. McNamara wrote to the employee and expressed his concerns regarding the employee’s mistrust of Alaska Orthopedic Specialists’ clinic.  He recommended the employee transfer her care to another provider, as the patient physician trust and confidence in her case had been lost.  He offered to make a referral.
  

The employee additionally contacted Dr. Prieto with requests for amendments to her medical records.  Dr. Prieto responded to the employee’s notations on medical records.  He indicated that although he reviewed the surgical records from the procedure performed on July 13, 2004, by Dr. Kase, Dr. Prieto would not comment on what procedures were actually performed or whether there was a discrepancy between the employee’s history and what was on the medical record.

Dr. Beard indicated that the employee did not meet the criteria for her prior jobs; 
 and that the employee could perform sedentary work but for less than eight hours per day.
  Dr. Beard recommended a trial with a pain clinic.
  The employee continued to smoke one pack of cigarettes per day.
  Dr. Beard found that the ongoing pain, dysesthesias, and disability described by the employee was greater than would be expected for the employee's type of injury and surgeries; and knowing the employee’s surgeons and therapists, Dr. Beard indicated the best chances for recovery had already passed.  Dr. Beard found that the employee's request for a “handicap sticker,” suggested psychological overlay.  Dr. Beard advised the employee that she needed to start using her arm as much as possible.  Dr. Beard ordered pool therapy, hoping it would be beneficial on several levels; however she noted that if the employee could not tolerate pool therapy, it was unlikely she would tolerate any more aggressive therapy.  Dr. Beard did not suspect that the employee had complex regional pain syndrome (“CRPS”), but left this to be evaluated by Gregory Polston, M.D.  Dr. Beard did not think the employee was a candidate for interventional procedures.  Based upon the functional capacity evaluation, Dr. Beard found the employee met less than eight hours for the sedentary category; however, Dr. Beard indicated that some of this was due to deconditioning, and likely due to smoking.  Dr. Beard indicated the employee would not return to the job she had at the time of injury, but that her disability was greater than would be expected.  Finally, 
Dr. Beard suggested that the employee may need an EME.

Dr. Polston evaluated the employee on January 4, 2006.  His impressions were scar neuroma and status post wrist and ulnar surgery with wrist and forearm pain.  He continued the employee on Vicodin, had her sign an opioid contract and started her on Lyrica.
  

On January 5, 2006, Dr. Beard reviewed job descriptions at the request of the employee’s vocational rehabilitation specialist.  Dr. Beard acknowledged that the functional capacities evaluation suggested the employee is not able to sustain a full-time sedentary position; however, Dr. Beard found this incongruent with the employee's medical condition related to the claimed injury.  Dr. Beard advised the employee that by indicating she was not approved for some of the positions, that did not imply that Dr. Beard expected her never to be able to accomplish a full-time sedentary position, and more likely a light duty position.

Dr. Beard received and reviewed the employee's entire medical record as provided by the nurse case manager assigned to the employee's workers’ compensation case.  Dr. Beard indicated that her impression was supported by the medical records; that is, at the level of disability presented by the employee exceeds her medical condition.  Dr. Beard therefore suspected that the employee's primary diagnosis included major depression; however, she did not believe this to be exclusively related to the employee’s claimed injury event and her medical condition.  Dr. Beard mentioned in the medical notes, potential litigation relative to the initial surgery, which prompted consideration of secondary gain issues.  Finally, Dr. Beard noted the employee's long history of smoking and her exposure to tuberculosis at a young age, which may raise the concern for some other process.

Dr. Beard confirmed the employee would have a permanent partial physical impairment due to her injury of August 4, 2003.  Dr. Beard approved the DOT/SCODOT job description for Cashier, with modifications; she did not approve the DOT/SCODOT job descriptions for Dishwasher, Janitor, Data Entry, Cleaner Helper, or Stock Clerk.  The DOT/SCODOT job description for Office Manager was approved with modifications, as was the DOT/SCODOT job description for Assistant Manager.

On January 16, 2006, the employee notified Connie Judd that she would be moving to Florida, which Ms. Judd supported.  If the employee's depression did not remit with her move to Florida, Ms. Judd suggested consideration of a medication for depression and transferring the employee's case to Florida.

On January 18, 2006, the employee reported to Dr. Polston that she would be moving out of Alaska.  Dr. Polston recommended a neuroma wrist injection, but the employee declined the treatment.  Dr. Polston recommended that the employee obtain her records.  He continued her on Vicodin and discontinued Lyrica.

On January 18, 2006, the employee had her last session with Lois Michaud.  She reported she was moving to Florida and would line up pain management and look at a smoking cessation program in Florida.

At the employer's request, on February 20, 2006, a panel consisting of Stephen Fuller, M.D., orthopedic surgeon, and Gerald Reimer, M.D., neurologist, and S. David Glass, M.D., psychiatrist, conducted an employer's medical evaluation.
  Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer noted that the employee did not have a totally straightforward evaluation.

She responded to light touch involving virtually all aspects of her right upper extremity distal to the mid biceps region.  This is a new subjective finding compared to examinations performed by all prior examiners.  This finding has no objective basis.

She also claimed global weakness in testing the motor functions of her right upper extremity.  Again this was a nonorganic finding.

Currently, there is no objective basis to suggest persistent deQuervain’s tenosynovitis.  She has full excursion of the abductor pollicus longus tendons, without any crepitus or scar formation or build up.  She has full radial ulnar deviation of her right wrist, without positive Finkelstein's.  Several such maneuvers were performed, with her thumb in her palm, under the guise of neurological testing, which did not provoke a deQuervain's type response from her radial wrist.

Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer reviewed Dr. McNamara’s post operative records and the post operative records of occupational therapy, which they found supported Dr. McNamara's June 9, 2005 records and demonstrated normal physiological healing and improvement.  They did not find a mechanism of injury documented to support the sudden immergence of pain in the medial epicondylar.  Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer indicated the employee was not doing any harmful activities to the medial elbow attributable to physical therapy; and because it was nearly two years after her work injury and she had never exhibited medial elbow pain, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer did not find the medial elbow pain related to the employee’s 2003 work injury.  They found the sudden emergence of this medial elbow symptom complex suggestive of the employee's performance of manual activities, which were not being revealed by the employee.  If that was the case, they opined that this type of use of her right arm confirmed no concurrent pathologies or impairment in the lateral elbow or radial wrist.

Based upon the employee's record, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer found there was never any definite organic pathology noted in the employee's right wrist that supported the diagnosis of deQuervain's tenosynovitis.  Relying upon the initial record, authored by Dana Campbell, ANP, on August 4, 2003, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer acknowledge this record strongly endorses the presence of a pre-existing deQuervain's tenosynovitis and that the data entry activities performed for a few months in 2003 combined with a pre-existing condition.  Based upon Ms. Campbell's diagnosis that the work injury was an exacerbation of the pre-existing condition, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer indicated the employee was correctly treated with a Medrol Dosepak and a splint.  However, when addressing substantial factor causation, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer found that because the right deQuervain's tenosynovitis pre-existed the August 4, 2003 work injury, it could not have happened “but for” the employee's computer data entry employment, because it was already present and symptomatic.  They opined that the few months of typing in data entry was not so important in bringing about the deQuervain's tenosynovitis such that reasonable persons, when comparing this mechanism to the pre-existing history, would regard data entry as being a responsible cause of the condition versus simply causing a transient exacerbation of symptoms attributable to the pre-existing condition.
  They attributed great weight to the fact that the employee was seen by Dr. Kase on September 8, 2003 and attended occupational therapy on September 10, 2003, and after that they found no medical records, from any source, that documented ongoing deQuervain's tenosynovitis.  They found this the basis for a strong argument that the transient exacerbation of symptoms, attributable to the employee's August 4, 2003 exposure, had simmered down and resolved.
  

With regard to the emergence of lateral epicondylitis complaints, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer found these were not noted until Dr. Kase’s preoperative history and physical of July 5, 2004.  Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer opine that the right elbow complaint occurred after the employee had long since quit working for the employer; and that she had never exhibited any elbow symptoms prior to her termination of employment on April 17, 2004.  As the emergence of medial epicondylitis did not appear until July 2005, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer opined that it has no connection, directly or consequentially, with the August 4, 2003 computer data entry activities.  Finally, with regard to the diagnosis of carpal tunnel syndrome, they found this diagnosis was not based on either subjective complaints or objective findings and noted that the employee's 2004 pre-operative consent was only for deQuervain's release.

Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer opined that the typing activities for the employer were a substantial factor in producing symptoms for a transient exacerbation of symptoms from the employee's pre-existing condition, but work for the employer did not cause a permanent wrist tendinitis as of August 4, 2003.  They indicated that deQuervain's tenosynovitis occurs spontaneously and frequently presents with multiple transient episodes.  Therefore, they opined that after August 4, 2003, her transient exacerbation of her pre-existing deQuervain's appeared to resolve as of September 10, 2003, after which the record was silent for ten months.  In addressing other causes, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer indicated that an episode of DeQuervain’s tendinitis could have come on simply through the activities of daily living; and, likewise, an episode could have occurred with the employee's data entry work at Nye Toyota.

According to Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer, the August 4, 2003 transient exacerbation of the employee's pre-existing deQuervain's became medically stable on September 10, 2003, based upon the employee's failure to present again for approximately ten months.  Following the May 2005 surgery, they considered it was reasonable for Dr. McNamara to consider the employee fixed and stable as of August 22, 2005; three months after the simple release type surgery was more than sufficient time for a physiological healing to take place, in their opinion.  In addition, they concurred with Dr. McNamara's opinion that the employee’s lateral epicondylitis was medically stable as of August 22, 2005.

Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer did not attribute the employee’s lateral epicondylitis to her work with the employer or the August 4, 2003 injury.  They opined that the employee’s elbow symptoms did not present in a timely fashion to attribute them to the employee’s work with the employer.

Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer opined that after August 22, 2005, there was no basis for the employee’s subjective symptoms; and that no basis for continued complaints existed as of the time of their examination.  Therefore, they indicated the employee needs no further treatment with regard to deQuervain’s tenosynovitis.  Their opinion applies also to the employee’s claimed lateral elbow pain, with regard to which they indicate she was stable and needed no further objective treatment after September 2005.

Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer opined that based upon normal ranges of motion, normal x-rays, normal neurological status, and no crepitus of any muscle or attending group, there is no basis to attribute either temporary or permanent physical restrictions to the diagnosis of right deQuervain's tenosynovitis or lateral epicondylitis.  These physicians found the results of the employee's functional capacity evaluation to be “fake bad” and opined that they did not correlate with the minor nature of both surgeries, nor did they correlate with the reasonable recovery illustrated in Dr. McNamara's follow-up records for the post operative therapy records.  
Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer opined that both of the surgeries performed by Dr. McNamara were done in an optimal fashion and were successful.  They defined a successful surgical result as restoring function and indicated that their examination of the employee revealed normal restored function.  As such, they found no basis for either temporary or permanent physical restrictions, especially in relationship to her typing activities of August 4, 2003.

Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer opined that the employee could return to her regular work as a production control clerk, if she was motivated to do so.  They found no objective organic basis in either her wrist or elbow that permanently precluded her from returning to any work she desired to take on, to include manual work in the medium demand category, as demonstrated in the post operative physical therapy records when she was housecleaning and vacuuming in the early post operative recovery phase.  They opined that if she could perform these activities at that time, she is in an even better position to perform them now.

Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer found no basis for a PPI rating based upon the employee's normal ranges of motion of her right wrist and normal function of all tendons which crossed her right wrist.
  As the employee’s right lateral epicondylitis did not appear in the record until the summer of 2004, long after the employee's work with the employer, they could not attribute the relationship between the employee's work with the employer in any theoretical impairment of the employee's right elbow.  However, they went on to opine that there is no organically based reason to attribute permanent impairment to the right lateral epicondylitis, as their examination revealed that her right elbow was normal in terms of ranges of motion and had normal function of the dorsal extensor muscle / tendon group.  Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer emphasized that the employee’s currently claimed wrist and elbow conditions are merely complaints that have no verifiable organic basis.

Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer found the employee's prognosis was excellent based upon the normal functioning of her right elbow and normal objective functioning of her right wrist.  They opined she needed no further treatment for any right upper extremity condition.

Dr. Glass reported on the results of the employee’s MMPI-2 test, indicating the employee produced valid results for somatic preoccupation, dissatisfactions with some aspects of living, and modestly hysterical psychodynamics.  He found the results of the test reflect the employee is struggling against something – perhaps some type of authority.  He indicated the employee’s profile is consistent with individuals who have long-standing, pre-existing unhappiness and somatic overfocus and reinforces the psychiatric diagnosis of somata form, dysthymic and/or personality disorders.
  He opined that the most appropriate DSM-IV diagnosis is pain disorder associated with psychological factors, which was determined in light of the employee's history of ongoing subjective pain complaints that are not clearly substantiated by the level of actual physical pathology, as well as having not responded to conservative management and surgeries.  In addition, the diagnosis of nicotine dependence was attached.

Dr. Glass indicated that none of the psychiatric diagnoses were caused, aggravated or accelerated by the employee's work exposure with the employer; and that there is no combined condition and no permanent psychiatric impairment as a result of the work exposure or resulting treatment.
  
Dr. Glass explained that somata form pain disorder is caused by non-work psychosocial issues interacting with constitutional and developmental factors such as personality.  These disorders, according to Dr. Glass, are not caused by actual injury or tissue pathology.  The employee's nicotine dependence, in Dr. Glass's opinion, was pre-existing and relates to constitutional and developmental issues.

Dr. Glass opined that the employee does not require psychiatric treatment for counseling as a result of her work injury with the employer.  However, he offered some comments regarding her over all medical management, as follows:

Ms. Rockstad represents the psychogenic pain disorder…, and patients with these conditions are managed by treating them with strong expectation and suggestion that they will get better and are not as ill as they believe themselves to be.  This is done by stressing action oriented treatments - active exercise - and avoiding passive modalities of care (injections, massage, electrical stimulation, etc.) as well as the paraphernalia of invalidism: unnecessary canes, braces, polypharmacy, etc., the use of addicting drugs - narcotics or other addicting agents; i.e., Soma (an addicting tranquilizer) or benzodiazepines - is to be strenuously curtailed.

Early return to work and encouragement to engage in regular routine and activities is helpful - activity level is important.  As tolerated physically, Ms. Rockstad should develop a self-directed exercise program to include flexibility, aerobic and muscle strengthening exercises; regular (three or more times a week) exercise, in particular aerobic exercise, has been demonstrated to be useful in stabilizing mood, improving sleeping and morale, diminishing obsessive compulsive behaviors, managing pain and facilitating adaptation.

Use of the antidepressants is often beneficial in terms of management; these medications would be anticipated to decrease pain preoccupation and improve morale and functioning.  Such agents are not addicting, generally well tolerated, and have been found to be useful in somaform disorders (307.80); personality disorders (301.9); anxiety disorders; situational distress; and obsessive-compulsive behaviors, as well as effective for dysthymic symptomology and pain management.

From a psychiatric standpoint, Dr. Glass opined that the employee had no temporary or permanent work restrictions; and that the employee does not demonstrate any permanent psychiatric impairment under the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, related to her work with the employer.

Dr. Glass recommended that the employee move on with her life.  He opined that secondary gain and other psychosocial circumstances are involved with what he characterized as an extreme degree of somatic preoccupation and subjective pain complaints and disability.  He reiterated that any form of psychotherapy or counseling should focus on active exercise of behavioral change and warned that the employee may attempt to use sessions with a counselor to reinforce her disability, rather than help, and the providers should take this into consideration.

Dr. Beard was provided the EME reports of Dr. Fuller, Dr. Reimer and Dr. Glass and responded to questions posed by the employer.  Dr. Beard’s diagnostic impression for the employee’s claimed work injury remained right wrist deQuervain's tenosynovitis, with release in May 2005; right lateral epicondylitis, with epicondylectomy and extensor origin debridement; and right carpal tunnel release.  She indicated that she questioned the emergence of golfer’s elbow or medial epicondylitis and whether it ever really existed.  Dr. Beard indicated she agreed with the EME panel’s opinions regarding why the employee’s work activities with the employer were not a substantial factor in producing the various diagnoses and the causes they attributed to the diagnoses.  Further, she agreed with the EME panel’s opinions regarding when the employee reached medical stability and that the employee had no permanent partial impairment.

Dr. Beard acknowledged that the employee did quite poorly on the physical capacity evaluation and that the therapist thought the employee was presenting a valid testing.  However, Dr. Beard indicated that she had her suspicions otherwise, and stated as follows:

I do not believe she is incapable of these activities and sometimes it is helpful with the patient with somatoform disorder to try to encourage them to return to some level of activity and then progress from there.  However it is apparent that she has no intention of doing so at least at the time of my examination.  For example, I knew that her level of disability was greater than her medical condition and that she had requested a handicap sticker although that was unreasonable.

Dr. Beard acknowledged that in completing a preliminary questionnaire, she affirmatively responded that there may be a “possible partial impairment.”  However, she went on to clarify that her response to the preliminary questionnaire did not indicate that at the time of the employee's final rating, she would absolutely have an impairment.  Further, based upon the record of the examination performed by the EME physicians, Dr. Beard agreed with their opinion that there is no permanent impairment relative to the employee’s claimed injury.

Finally, Dr. Beard agreed with the EME panel regarding the need for further treatment; specifically, that there is no ongoing need for treatments for the employee’s physical condition, but treatment for the employee's somatic disorder may be beneficial, but unrelated to the employee’s claimed injury.

The employee was treated at Garden Urgent Care in Palm Beach Garden, Florida, for cellulitis on May 10, 2006.
  On May 11, 2006, the employee was admitted to St. Mary’s Medical Center for an abscess on her neck, cellulitis and an upper airway obstruction.  She underwent incision and drainage of the abscess.
  The abscess was re-explored surgically and drained on May 18, 2006.
  The employee acquired a staph infection, which was treated.  She was released from 
St. Mary’s Medical Center on May 30, 2006.

The record is devoid of treatment notes until August 14, 2006, when the employee returned to Advanced Pain Centers Alaska complaining of right arm pain from her right elbow on the lateral aspect down her arm, worsened by cold and dampness.  The employee reported specific pains over the anterior right wrist and along the incision line where she had a carpal tunnel release, as well as pain in her right snuffbox area secondary to the deQuervain's procedure on the right.  The employee was diagnosed with scar neuroma over the right lateral epicondylar area primarily with a lesser scar neuroma sensation over the site of the deQuervain’s release procedure on the right lateral wrist, as well as positive Tinel’s signs over the median nerve on the right.

The employee returned to Connie Judd, psychiatric nurse practitioner with Advanced Behavioral Health, on August 16, 2006.  Ms. Judd noted the employee had generalized worry with perseveration regarding conflicts with the workers’ compensation system.  Ms. Judd diagnosed depression disorder secondary to medical condition and to insomnia; pain disorder with psychological factors and a general medical condition, nicotine dependence, and the necessity to rule out post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms related to the employee’s perceived betrayal by her employer and the workers’ compensation system.  The priority was to get the employee sleeping again and she was to be seen weekly to adjust medications.

On August 30, 2006, Dr. Hinman performed a scar neuroma injection.  The employee was to follow up in two weeks to assess her pain relief and repeat an injection if she received outstanding benefit, utilizing Botox as it is a longer acting modality and provides higher potential for benefit.
  As of September 12, 2006, the employee's pain was still 9/10.  She reported that she had a two hour period where she was absolutely pain-free; however, the pain relief was not sustained.  Dr. Hinman indicated the employee had a partial success with the scar neuroma injection and continued to believe that she may benefit from a Botox injection into the scar since she had a period of pain relief.  Prior to a Botox injection, he decided to address the sympathetically mediated pain from the central spinal cord location and treat it with a stellate ganglion block in the right side of the employee's neck.
  

On September 14, 2006, in a session with Lois Michaud, the employee was provided therapeutic
 support.  She and Ms. Michaud discussed how the employee would take care of herself, given the denial of her workers’ compensation claim.  On the same date, the employee was also seen by Ms. Judd who indicated that the employee's depression disorder was complicated by several factors, including that the etiology began with the employee’s work-related injury with chronic pain, exacerbated by loss of function and income and the employee's recent surgery in Florida.  Ms. Judd found the employee motivated to work through her depression.

On December 5, 2006, in completing the State of Alaska’s Department of Health and Social Services, Division of Public Assistance paperwork, Dr. Hinman expected the employee to recover from her condition with 12 or more months of therapy, to include medications, bier blocks and stellate ganglion blocks.
  Ms. Judd certified the employee had chronic mental illness for purposes of the Division of Public Assistance’s medical status for chronic and acute medical assistance.

Dr. Hinman followed up with the employee on January 12, 2007.  He indicated the employee exhibited many features of the complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS) type II.  Pain continued to be worsened with use of the employee's right upper extremity and did not seem to be improving.

Ms. Judd, in a letter to whom it may concern, supported the employee receiving medical and vocational services in Wasilla.  Due to the employee's chronic depression and chronic pain disorder, Ms. Judd reported that the employee often experiences excessive daytime fatigue and that it could therefore be considered a hardship for the employee to drive long distances for 
non-emergent services.  Ms. Judd recommended that the employee avoid trips of more than 30 miles whenever possible.

On May 2, 2007, the employee returned to Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska for her right arm pain.  Additionally, she complained of medial epicondylar pain, a scar pain over the site of a transposition over her right elbow ulnar nerve, an aching pins and needles sensation over the distal radial nerve at the right snuffbox, and a right volar wrist ganglion that was aching in quality.  Dr. Hinman diagnosed medial epicondylitis, joint pain in the hand, and scar neuroma.  The employee was referred to Doug Vermillion, M.D., for evaluation of her medial epicondylitis and ganglion cysts over the right wrist as well as her right arm pain.

Dr. Vermillion evaluated the employee on May 22, 2007 for chronic right elbow and wrist pain.  X-rays of the employee's wrist and elbow were normal.  Dr. Vermillion diagnosed median nerve neuropathy, complex regional pain syndrome, history of tennis elbow, possible golfer’s elbow, and recurrent deQuervain's.  Dr. Vermillion wanted to rule out neuropathy and ordered in EMG of the median nerve across her elbow and forearm.  He indicated he was reluctant to perform surgery because of the quality of the employee's skin and the history of RSD.

Shawn Johnston, M.D., performed electrodiagnostic testing.  He indicated nerve conduction studies including the employee's right median and ulnar motor and sensory studies, as well as the right median and ulnar motor and sensory studies were within normal limits.  A needle evaluation of the right upper extremity was conducted and was within normal limits.  Dr. Johnston did not find any electrophysiologic evidence of a radio, median, or ulnar neuropathy to account for any of the employee's symptoms.  Further, there was no electrophysiologic evidence of a cervical radiculopathy.  Dr. Johnston opined that most of the employee’s symptoms are associated with refractory lateral and medial epicondylitis.  He recommended that the employee continue with stretching exercises, use of a tennis elbow brace, and ice massage to treat her symptoms.

The employee presented to Dr. Vermillion on June 20, 2007, for follow-up of her EMG, which was normal.  The employee's physical examination remained unchanged; she had full range of motion, was tender in the medial and lateral epicondyle, tender at the wrist on the volar aspect, and tender along the first dorsal compartment.  The employee reported to Dr. Vermillion that she had a ganglion; however, he could not palpate a ganglion.  Dr. Vermillion’s plan was to do a debridement, using the platelet rich plasma to try to get the tendinopathies to be more inclined to heal.  However, he noted that this would not work in the face of the employee’s smoking.  He referred her to Ismet Kursumoglu, M.D., for evaluation of use of Chantix.  Dr. Vermillion did not plan to see the employee again until after she quit smoking.

After receiving a right stellate ganglion block, the employee had two days of excellent pain relief for her right CRPS symptoms and her right forearm, hand, and wrist were effectively normal.  However, after 48 hours, the employee woke up and her right upper extremity was again in pain.  Dr. Hinman indicated the employee was a candidate for a repeat stellate ganglion block; he found it was not unusual for individuals to receive benefit from stacking blocks.

Dr. Vermillion reevaluated the employee on January 9, 2008.  He ordered an MRI of the employee’s elbow and of the wrist to enable him to define the anatomy of these areas and determine if anything could be done.  He indicated he would not perform surgery until the employee completely quit smoking.

On January 15, 2008, an MRI of the employee's right elbow revealed that the proximal aspect of common extensor tendon was high end signal, suggesting tendinosis, without a frank tear.
  An MRI of the employee's right wrist identified an 11 x 6 x 15 mm mass compatible with a ganglionic cyst of the lateral aspect of the wrist, possibly communicating with the radioscaphoid joint.

II. HISTORY OF THE REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PROCESS

An eligibility evaluation was filed on January 18, 2006, recommended the employee be found eligible for reemployment benefits based upon Dr. Beard’s prediction that the employee would have a permanent partial impairment due to her August 4, 2003 injury, the unavailability of alternative employment with the employer, and the physician’s refusal to approve jobs the employee held or received training within ten years before the injury and the employee held subsequent to the injury.  The job the employee held at the time of her injury was data entry, a sedentary job.  The rehabilitation specialist relied upon her interview with the employee to determine the jobs the employee held in the ten years preceding the work injury. These jobs were identified as cashier (light), stock clerk (heavy), cleaner helper (medium), office manager (light), assistant manager (light), janitor (heavy), and dishwasher (medium).  None of these job descriptions were approved.  

The employee was found eligible for reemployment benefits on February 6, 2006.
  Northern Rehabilitation Services was assigned to develop the employee’s retraining plan on March 14, 2006.  On April 6, 2006, the employee’s plan development was placed on hold.
  The rehabilitation specialist issued a vocational closure report on July 28, 2006, explaining that Northern Rehabilitation Services sent the employee a letter after the April 6, 2006 status report, by both certified and regular mail, requesting that the employee contact its office to schedule an appointment and defining noncooperation according to AS 23.30.041.  Northern Rehabilitation Services received the return receipt from the employee's letter, signed by a party other than the employee and dated April 7, 2006; however Northern Rehabilitation Services remained unable to contact the employee and reported that she had not responded to the certified mail request received at her last known residence.  After contact with both Ward North America and the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division, Northern Rehabilitation Services closed its file to further services.
  Closure of the employee’s file with Northern Rehabilitation Services was formalized on November 7, 2006, when the employee's file was closed to further services based upon rehabilitation specialist Alizon White’s unsuccessful attempts to contact the employee by phone and mail.
  

In the meantime, on October 17, 2006, the employer had filed a petition for modification of the RBA's eligibility determination of February 6, 2006, based upon a mistake of fact.  The employer based its petition on the fact that Dr. Beard had initially not approved the employee for return to work at her job of injury, or to any job she held in the 10 years prior to her injury.  Further, the employer acknowledged that Dr. Beard predicted the employee would have a permanent partial impairment due to her work injury.  It was, therefore, recommended that the employee be found eligible for reemployment benefits; and the RBA relied upon that recommendation in making his determination.  In its petition for modification, the employer relies on a January 5, 2006 report of Dr. Beard, in which she notes the employee's potential for issues of secondary gain.  The employer asserts that Dr. Beard had disapproved of the job descriptions presented to her based upon the results of the functional capacities evaluation performed on September 28, 2005.  However, the employer went on to highlight that the EME physicians found that the results of the functional capacities valuation were “fake bad;” that the employee was medically stable; had no PPI due to her work injury; and that she could return to her regular work.  The employer asserted that Dr. Beard, whose opinions formed the basis for the eligibility determination, subsequently agreed with the EME panel in her April 7, 2006 report. the employer contended that, had the RBA had knowledge of the opinions expressed by the EME physicians, and the changed opinion of Dr. Beard, the RBA would not have found the employee eligible for reemployment benefits.
  

The employer continued to conduct discovery and identified several jobs held by the employee during her 10 year work history prior to her August 4, 2003 injury that were not mentioned in the eligibility evaluation report of Jean Kusel.  According to the Social Security Administration’s itemized statement of earnings for the employee, the employee worked for Alaska Sales and Service in 2000, for the Kirkwood Company in 2000, and for Universal Motors in 2004.
  In addition, the employee worked for Taco Bell as an assistant store manager.
  

On July 31, 2007, the employee asserted that, at the employer's request, the Division designated three different rehabilitation specialists; and that when the last change took place, “the employee was hospitalized out of state due to a life-threatening illness requiring multiple surgeries.”  The employee requested that she be assigned to a rehabilitation specialist in the Palmer - Wasilla area, claiming driving between Palmer and Anchorage placed her at risk and as a public assistance recipient with income below the poverty level, she cannot afford to travel between Palmer and Anchorage.
 

The employer objected to the employee's request for reassignment of the rehabilitation specialist, asserting that the Act does not allow for reassignment upon a party's request.  Moreover, the employer maintained that assignment of a new specialist would only work further delay and increase costs.  The employer offered to accommodate the employee’s disability and financial restraints and proposed that the rehabilitation specialist and the employee meet in Wasilla.
  On August 6, 2007, the employee agreed that this was a reasonable accommodation for her disability.  The employee indicated that upon the employer's “performance,” her request for reassignment of the rehabilitation specialist would be formally withdrawn.

On August 15, 2007, the employee was notified by the rehabilitation specialist that Northern Rehabilitation Services had been assigned to develop the reemployment benefits plan.  The employee's assistance was requested with regard to provision of releases, completion of vocational inventories, and to schedule to take the COMPASS placement test at the Mat-Su College Testing Center.  The rehabilitation specialist had previously contacted the testing center, which indicated whatever accommodations were required for the employee to complete the testing would be provided.  The employee was directed to contact the rehabilitation specialist to schedule an interview upon completion of her assignments.  The employee was directed to complete the activities no later than August 31, 2007.

An informal rehabilitation conference was held on August 17, 2007.  The issue was the current status of reemployment benefits activity.  Discussions were recorded as follows:

Employee’s reemployment benefits plan has been placed on hold for a variety of reasons.  Employee and employer agree at this point that efforts have been made to develop a plan on employee's behalf.  Specialist agrees to meet with employee in Wasilla area, likely at Mat-Su College campus.  Specialist agrees to send correspondence to employee outlining plan activity.  Employee agrees to take the COMPASS placement test at Mat-Su.

The employee and rehabilitation specialist Alizon White were directed to work together to develop a reemployment benefits plan as soon as reasonably possible.

On August 20, 2007, the employer filed its affidavit of readiness for hearing on its petition for modification.

On August 21, 2007, the employee advised the RBA of what appeared to her to be a conflict of interest involving Northern Rehabilitation Services.  Specifically, the employee’s representative, Mary Thoeni, when reviewing medical records discovered that Northern Rehabilitation Services’ employee Virginia Samson served as the nurse case manager in the employee's case.  The employee assumed that the existing relationship showed it had been disclosed to the RBA by the employer at the time Northern Rehabilitation Services was assigned.

In response, the employer asserted that no conflict of interest has ever existed; that nothing in the Act or regulations applicable at the time of the employee's injury on August 4, 2003, prohibits the assignment of a rehabilitation specialist where the agency employing the specialist has performed other work on the claim.  Further, the employer maintained that even under the current law, which addresses the circumstance, Alizon White’s involvement is not prohibited.  The employer acknowledged that the current version of the Act at AS 23.30.041(c), prohibits the assignment of a rehabilitation specialist to perform an eligibility evaluation under the present circumstances; however, that no similar prohibition exists governing the assignment of the specialist for plan development under the current version of AS 23.30.041(d).  The employer maintains that the current version of AS 23.30.041(d) does not apply to the instant matter, as it was not in effect on the date of the employee's injury.
  The employer alleged that the employee has known all along that both Ms. Samson and Ms. White are employed by Northern Rehabilitation Services and took exception to the fact that the employee was suddenly complaining that the conflict should have been disclosed.  The employer maintains that it has never been kept a secret, evidenced by letters to the employee from Ms. Samson as early as December 5, 2005 on Northern Rehabilitation Services letterhead.

On August 30, 2007, the employee raised a “strong objection” to the fact that rehabilitation specialist Alizon White’s August 15, 2007 letter bore a postmark of August 17, 2007.  The employee refused to sign a medical release provided by the rehabilitation specialist, asserting that the release requested medical information that was not related to the cumulative, repetitive use injury to the employee's right upper extremity; specifically, the employee’s cervical spine.  The employee filed a petition for protective order, but wished for the reemployment plan development process to continue.  With regard to Alizon White’s involvement in the matter as the rehabilitation specialist, the employee brought the following to the rehabilitation specialist’s attention:

I point out that your firm has a pre-existing contract with the Employer to provide case management services.  (AS 23.30.041(c)).  That situation requires all action taken by your firm, in regard to the reemployment plan, to be free of any indication that a conflict of interest exists.  Thus, it is requested that your firm refrain from ex parte communication with any/all potential witnesses in this claim.  It is understood that you may have the need to request records.  Limited, written communication for that purpose may be made, however, copies of that communication must be served upon the Employee.  If your firm wishes to communicate with the provider in person or by telephone, please cooperate in scheduling such events with me.  The employee and/or myself should be present at such meetings, including those conducted by telephone.

Employee has filed a Petition to Strike the August 4, 2003 report of Dana Campbell, ANP, and the EIME reports, dated February 20, 2006 (Drs. Fuller, Reamer [sic] and Glass).  That matter is set for hearing on December 20, 2007.  Any release of those documents to a treating physician, prior to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board having issued a Decision and Order in that matter will be considered an attempt to influence the opinion of a physician under 
AS 23.30.095(I).  I point out that the Employer's questionnaire answered by Joella Beard, M.D. on April 7, 2006 is based on the February 20, 2006 EIME.  Release of Dr. Beard's April 7, 2006 letter to any treating physician will be considered in attempts to influence the opinion of a physician under AS 23.30.095(I).

Based upon the employee’s August 30, 2007 correspondence, the employer requested an additional informal rehabilitation conference based upon the employee's assertions that the rehabilitation specialist assigned to develop the employee's plan had a conflict of interest.  Based upon what Ms. White considered to be confining parameters, the employer communicated she was not comfortable in proceeding with plan development.  The RBA Designee’s intervention was requested.  The employee asserted that Ms. White was misrepresenting the facts and that no objections were made with regard to the testing that was to occur.  The employee asserted Northern Rehabilitation Services had a conflict of interest based upon its work for NovaPro Risk and for the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division providing rehabilitation specialist services to the employee.  Additionally, the employee requested accommodations in testing.  The employee asserted that Northern Rehabilitation Services’ reliance upon medical records, provided by the employer, to determine the employee's physical ability was a serious error.  She maintained that she had a well-documented ganglion cyst at the volar region of the first dorsal compartment of her right wrist, as well as scar neuroma at both the right wrist and elbow; and that these conditions affected her ability to complete testing without accommodations.
  The employee responded to the employer’s September 10, 2007 letter and agreed that an informal conference was appropriate.  The employee maintained that the possibility of a conflict of interest, based upon Northern Rehabilitation Services’ previous contract with the employer to provide case management services, was brought to the RBA's attention.  The employee asserted that AS 23.30.041 was amended to avoid such as conflict.  The employee asserted ex parte communication occurred between Northern Rehabilitation Services and the employer’s legal counsel and adjuster.
  

Based upon these assertions, the employee petitioned for assignment of a different rehabilitation specialist to prepare the employee's reemployment plan.  The employee further asserted in her petition that she was physically unable to complete testing due to a ganglion cyst and that Northern Rehabilitation Services denied the employee’s request for accommodations.
  On October 5, 2007, the employee filed an additional petition seeking replacement of Northern Rehabilitation Services.  In addition, the employee petitioned for an order from the Board requiring Northern Rehabilitation Services to provide accommodations for her disability during reemployment plan development as prescribed by her treating physician.

On October 5, 2007, the employee notified the RBA Designee that despite her agreement at the August 17, 2007 informal rehabilitation conference to place her request for reassignment of the rehabilitation specialist on hold, since that time it had become apparent that Northern Rehabilitation Services has a conflict of interest.  The employee found this conflict evident in the correspondence copied to the Division.  The employee took exception to Northern Rehabilitation Services’ ex parte communications with the employee, the employer and the adjuster.  Further, the employee felt that Northern Rehabilitation Services was engaging in activity designed to invalidate the RBA’s determination of eligibility, by forwarding job descriptions to the employee’s physicians, which require repetitive, physical activity similar to that which resulted in the employee's injury.

The employee further asserted that Northern Rehabilitation Services continued to refuse to provide accommodations for vocational testing which, the employee maintains has caused the delay in medical benefits, in addition to increased expense to the employee, the employer and the State of Alaska.  The employee formally requested that the Division assign a new rehabilitation specialist to develop the employee’s reemployment plan.  Further, the employee requested that the Division order disability accommodation as ordered by the employee's treating physicians; specifically adaptive equipment, therapeutic accommodation and a reader.  To support this request, the employee provided Dr. Hinman’s and Connie Judd’s handwritten prescription notes which state as follows, “Please provide adaptive equipment and therapeutic accommodation for test taking.  Avoid repetitive right hand arm motions”
 and “patient requires accomodation [sic] for disability that involves decreased concentration, difficulty sustaining focusing, and pain exacerbations from the presence of a repetitive motion injury.  This will likely involve a reader and adaptive equipment it should be assessed by a Disability Support Vocational Specialist (for any test taking activities).”

In response to the employee's letters, the employer argued that the letters both incorrectly contend that the employer has been improperly allowed to twice exercise the right of first refusal of an assigned reemployment specialist and misrepresented that Northern Rehabilitation Services has a conflict of interest in the instant matter.  Additionally, the employer objected to the employee's request of the RBA Designee to intercede in plan development by ordering testing accommodations.  The employer asserted that prescription pad notes attached to the employee's medical summary were minimal and provided no explanation regarding why any accommodations are needed.  The employer found them to be nonspecific in terms of the accommodations that should be provided.  The employer maintained that they were, therefore, insufficient to warrant the RBA Designee's interference in plan development.  The employer provided notice that it intended to file Smallwood objections against the prescription notes.

In answering the employee’s petitions, the employer urged the Board to find the petitions were untimely and / or that the petition for the Board’s intervention in ongoing reemployment plan development is without merit.  Further, the employer asserted the employee’s petition misrepresents that the employer was afforded two first refusals of the rehabilitation specialist assigned by the RBA.  The employer maintained that it objected to the employee’s selection of a rehabilitation specialist under 8 AAC 45.535(a-b), pursuant to which the RBA Designee assigned a second rehabilitation specialist.  It was then that the employer contends it exercised its first refusal right under 8 AAC 45.540(1).  The employer argued the employee is plainly wrong in her assertions the employer was permitted two first refusals.  The employer asserted the employee does not need accommodations to complete the testing the rehabilitation specialist wishes to conduct and that the employee’s assertions of the need for accommodation provide no legal basis for interference in the reemployment process.  As such, the employer argued the petition for accommodations should be denied.  Finally, the employer contended the employee has been non-cooperative with the reemployment process for two years and alleged her petition constitutes her latest bad faith obstruction.

III. ADDITIONAL PROCEDURAL HISTORY
In the instant matter, we shall additionally be considering the employee’s petitions to strike surveillance videos; a medical record written by Dana Campbell, ANP, on August 4, 2003; the EME Reports of Drs. Fuller and Reimer and of Dr. Glass; and the employee’s petition for a SIME.

The employee’s April 28, 2007 petition objects to surveillance videos, claiming that the videos have been edited.  Additionally, the employee asserts that the videographers are not identified, which denies the employee the right to cross-examine.  The employee asserts that one video was incorrectly labeled “March 2006” and that video was obtained on private property, without permission of the owner.  The employee further asserts that the Board has no jurisdiction over events taking place on Federal property and the video labeled December 2006, photographed the employee on U.S. government property.  The employee requested the Board issue an order striking as evidence the video surveillance tapes.

The employer argued that the petition should be denied, asserting that the employee's right of cross-examination is not an issue because no hearing on the merits of the employee's claim has been scheduled; therefore, the hearsay issues are unripe.  Further, the employer argues that the employee has also not requested cross-examination on one of the videos, and no violation of either the Act or its regulations has been alleged

On June 19, 2007, the employee filed a petition to strike the EME reports of February 20, 2006.  The employee asserts the exam was improperly influenced by the employer.  Additionally, the employee requested that the Dana Campbell report of August 4, 2003, be stricken from the record.  The basis for the employee's petition is that the employer is unable to provide a current address for Ms. Campbell, as she is no longer employed by the employer.  Consequently, the employee claims she is unable to cross-examine or depose Ms. Campbell.
  

In the employee's June 19, 2007 petition, she additionally requests an SIME.  The employee filed three SIME forms on May 1, 2007; one for chronic pain and depression, one for the employee's right elbow; and one for right deQuervain's stenosing tenosynovitis.
  In her petition, the employee asserts that the employer improperly influenced the opinion of the EME physicians, Drs. Fuller and Reimer, through selective omission of medical records.  The employee contends that the medical records authored by the employer's employees, documenting the employee's elbow condition as work-related, were withheld.  Further, the employee alleges that medical records written by the employer's employees, documenting the employee experienced previous left, rather than right deQuervain's, were withheld.  Finally, the employee maintains that the employer physicians and employee physicians disagree on medical stability, work relatedness, and the need for further treatment.

The employer answered the employee's petition to strike by categorically denying any impropriety related to omission of any medical records for its EME physicians’ review.  The employer asserted that the employee's petition ignores the relevant criteria under 
AS 23.30.095(k).  Further, the employer maintains that the employee's allegation that the employer improperly influenced the EME physicians is baseless.  The employer asserted that it is unclear how an employer can improperly influence its own physician but contends that, even if true, the employee’s allegations do not lead to exclusion of the EME reports.  The employer asserts that the allegations go to the weight of the evidence, not to admissibility.

The employer acknowledges the employee has filed three separate SIME forms and asserts that they overlook one problem; specifically, “The IME report concluded that any work injury she may have sustained had resolved without residual impairment, need for treatment, or work restrictions - and her own doctor (Dr. Beard) agreed.”  The employer admits that the employee has changed to new physicians.  It does, however, assert that there is no indication in the new physicians’ chart notes or reports that the employee has informed them of these contrary opinions.  The employer argues, therefore, that the opinions of her current physicians do not deserve any weight and the Board will not be aided by an SIME.

In addressing the employee's petition to exclude the August 4, 2003 Shemya Island Clinic note from the record based upon the employer's lack of knowledge of Dana Campbell's current whereabouts, the employer maintains that it is under no obligation to schedule a deposition, as the author was not the employer's physician within the meaning of the Smallwood rule.  The employer contends that Dana Campbell was a treating provider, whose chart notes come in under a well recognized exception to the hearsay rule; and if the employee wants to take 
Ms. Campbell's deposition, then she can investigate and locate Ms. Campbell and conduct discovery just like any other party vis-à-vis any other witness.  Finally, the employer asserts that as no hearing has been scheduled and the possibility remains that Dana Campbell will be found and will testify, the employee's request is otherwise premature.

IV. CONTENT OF SURVEILLANCE VIDEOS
The Board has reviewed the surveillance videos of December 12, 2006, December 14, 2006 and January 26, 2007.  We note that the video tracks the time at which the films are recorded and that there are gaps in time.  

On December 12, 2006, the video reveals the employee using her right arm to open her car door and reach up to her head to adjust her headband and the car’s rearview mirror.  We observed the employee going into Wal-Mart.  She was wearing a splint.  The employee pushed a shopping cart with both hands and we observed her using her left arm more than her right arm.  The employee regularly pulled items off the shelf with her left arm.  Her right arm was used on a consistent basis to flip her hair.  When shopping at a Duracell endcap, the video displays the employee using her right arm to reach overhead and pull a small item off the shelf.  When the employee returns to her vehicle, she transfers shopping bags from her right hand to her left hand and uses her right arm to open the car door.  

The employee is filmed filling her vehicle with gasoline; she used her right arm to pull the handle on the gas nozzle and then flipped the latch so it was not necessary for her to continue to apply pressure to the nozzle handle to dispense the gasoline.  The employee used her right arm to open the car door; and her left arm to close her car doors.

The employee used her left arm to tote and load grocery bags into her vehicle, including a case of soda with 24 cans.  

On December 14, 2006, the employee is seen in the video with her representative, Mary Thoeni.  It appears the employee received a ticket.  We observed the employee smoking with her right hand.

On January 26, 2006, the employee went to the post office.  The video shows the employee carrying three boxes using both arms.  We note that there is no way to determine the weight of those boxes from the video.  Later that same day, the employee exits the Division of Motor Vehicles swinging her right arm.

V. THE PARTIES’ STIPULATION ON THE EMPLOYER’S PETITION FOR MODIFICATION
At hearing, the parties entered into an oral stipulation to remand the eligibility determination for consideration of newly developed evidence, such as Dr. Beard’s April 7, 2006 responses to the adjuster’s inquiries, the itemized statement of earnings from the Social Security Administration and the employee's identification of employers for whom she worked and jobs she held during the ten year period prior to her work injury.

Based upon the parties’ oral stipulation at hearing to remand the eligibility determination to the RBA for consideration of the employer’s newly discovered evidence, the parties additionally stipulated to continue the employee’s petitions of September 12, 2007 and October 5, 2007. 


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I. REQUEST FOR AN ORDER BASED ON THE STIPULATION

The workers’ compensation regulations at 8 AAC 45.050(f) provide, in relevant part:

(1) If a claim or petition has been filed and the parties agree that there is no dispute as to any material fact and agree to the dismissal of the claim or petition, . . . , a stipulation of facts signed by all parties may be filed, consenting to the immediate filing of an order based upon the stipulation of facts.

(2) Stipulations between the parties may be made at any time in writing before the close of the record, or may be made orally in the course of a hearing or a prehearing. 

(3)  Stipulations of fact or to procedures are binding upon the parties to the stipulation and have the effect of an order.  .  .  .

(4)  The board will, in its discretion, base its findings upon the facts as they appear from the evidence, or cause further evidence or testimony to be taken, or order an investigation into the matter.  .  .  .

In accordance with 8 AAC 45.050(f)(2), in the course of the January 23, 2008 hearing, the parties orally stipulated to the facts and procedure, and requested an order.  Although the parties are resolving a workers’ compensation claim, the employee is not waiving any future benefits.  Consequently, the provisions of AS 23.30.012 do not apply, and a compromise and release agreement is not necessary.  Accordingly, the Board is able to consider the parties’ stipulation under 8 AAC 45.050(f).
The parties have stipulated to remand the reemployment benefits eligibility determination to the RBA for consideration of evidence discovered after the determination was made.  Based upon the oral stipulation and the Board’s independent review of the documentary record, the Board will exercise its discretion to issue an order in accord with 8 AAC 45.050(f), concerning the stipulated facts and procedure.  The Board’s order will bind the parties in accord with the Alaska Supreme Court decision in Underwater Const. Inc. v. Shirley.
  If, on the basis of a change in condition or mistake of fact, the parties wish to change the benefits awarded, they must file a claim or petition with the Board to request modification of this decision and order under AS 23.30.130.

II. SHALL THE BOARD VACATE THE DECISION OF THE RBA THAT FOUND THE EMPLOYEE ELIGIBLE FOR REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS AND REMAND THE MATTER TO THE RBA FOR CONSIDERATION OF NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE? 

A.
MODIFICATION
AS 23.30.130(a) provides:

Upon its own initiative, or upon the application of any party in interest on the ground of a change in condi​tions, including, for the purposes of AS 23.30.175, a change in resi​dence, or because of a mistake in its determination of a fact, the board may, before one year after the date of the last payment of compensation benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, whether or not a compensa​tion order has been issued, or before one year after the rejection of a claim, review a compensation case under the procedure pre​scribed in respect of claims in AS 23.30.1​10.  Under AS 23.30.110 the board may issue a new compensation order which terminates, continues, reins​tat​es, increases or decreases the compensation, or award compensation. . .

The employer timely filed its request for modification of the RBA’s determination of ineligibility. Through the newly introduced evidence identified in the employer’s petition for modification, and the parties’ oral stipulation, the parties request that the Board modify the RBA eligibility determination under AS 23.30.130(a).
  The Alaska Supreme Court discussed AS 23.30.130(a) in Interior Paint Company v. Rodgers,
 and stated: “The plain import of this amendment [adding ‘mistake in a determination of fact’ as a ground for review] was to vest a deputy commissioner with broad discretion to correct mistakes of fact whether demonstrated by wholly new evidence, cumulative evidence, or merely further reflection on the evidence initially submitted.”
  The Board also applies AS 23.30.130 to changes in condition, including those affecting reemployment benefits and vocational status.
  

Our regulation at 8 AAC 45.150(e) requires specific facts, not just a general allegation, of a change of condition or mistake of fact to serve as a basis for modification.  In the instant case, the employer has presented evidence developed after the RBA determination.  Specifically, that the employee’s medical provider, Dr. Beard, altered her opinion regarding whether the employee was able to return to the job she held at the time of injury or any of the jobs the employee held in the ten years prior to her injury.  In addition, the employer provided evidence of jobs held by the employee in the ten years preceding her injury that were not identified in the rehabilitation specialist’s eligibility evaluation report.  The employer argues this constitutes new evidence to be considered by the RBA in rendering a determination regarding the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits under 
AS 23.30.041.  Further, the employer argues that in similar cases, the Board has modified eligibility determinations when the medical opinions upon which they were based later changed.
  Accordingly, the Board will consider the employer’s petition in light of the whole record, including the new evidence.  


B.
STANDARD OF REVIEW
Under AS 23.30.041(d), we must uphold an eligibility decision of the RBA absent "an abuse of discretion on the administrator's part."  Although the instant case involves a petition for modification of an RBA determination under AS 23.30.130 rather than a direct appeal under 
AS 23.30.041(d), we have applied the same evidentiary standard to reviews of RBA eligibility determinations under either section of the statute.
  Several definitions of the phrase "abuse of discretion" appear in the laws of Alaska, although none occur in the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act.  In Sheehan v. University of Alaska,
 The Alaska Supreme Court has stated abuse of discretion consists of "issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive."
  We also consider an agency's misapplication of the law or a failure to exercise sound, reasonable, and legal discretion to fall within the definition of "abuse of discretion.”
 In the Administrative Procedure Act, the legislature has provided another definition to be used by the courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those cited above, but also expressly includes reference to a substantial evidence standard:  

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence . . . .  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.
  

On appeal to the courts, our decision reviewing an RBA determination is subject to reversal under the abuse of discretion standard of AS 44.62.570, incorporating the substantial evidence test.  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a substantial evidence standard in our review of an RBA determination. Applying a substantial evidence standard, a "[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld." 
 

The task of determining whether an abuse of discretion has taken place is aided by the Board’s practice of allowing additional evidence into the record at the review hearing.  The practice is based on the rationale expressed in several superior court opinions addressing that issue on appeal of Board decisions following the review hearings. 
 

Nevertheless, under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), the Board is precluded from considering additional evidence in review of an RBA determination of eligibility under AS 23.30.041(d) if the party offering that evidence has failed to exercise reasonable diligence in developing and presenting that evidence.
  

In the instant case, the record contains new evidence that a medical provider of the employee issued an opinion contrary to that upon which the RBA relied in making his determination that the employee was eligible for reemployment benefits.  Specifically, after the RBA issued his eligibility determination, Dr. Beard concurred with the opinions of the EME panel and agreed that the employee sustained no permanent partial impairment based upon her work injury and could return to the job she held at the time of injury.  Further, records from the Social Security Administration indicate the employee held jobs in the 
ten years prior to her work injury, which were not mentioned in the rehabilitation specialist’s eligibility evaluation report.  Under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), we find this evidence is newly discovered and could not with due diligence have been produced for the administrator’s consideration by the employer.  We conclude 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A) does not exclude the records containing this evidence from our consideration.
  

After allowing the parties to enter their evidence, the Board reviews it and the evidence before the RBA to assess whether an RBA decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.
  If, in light of all the evidence, the Board finds the RBA’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, we conclude that the RBA abused his discretion and remand the matter for reexamination of the evidence and necessary action.  We will remand this eligibility determination to the RBA to consider the newly discovered evidence in making a determination regarding the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041.

Pending the RBA’s determination on remand, the Board shall maintain jurisdiction over the employee’s petition for reassignment of the rehabilitation specialist for plan development and petition for an order granting accommodations in the reemployment plan development process for the employee’s disability.  The Board reminds the employee that if she wishes to proceed with her petitions for reassignment of the rehabilitation specialist and for accommodations, she must file another affidavit of readiness for hearing in accord with 8 AAC 45.070.

II. EMPLOYEE’S PETITION FOR SIME

AS 23.30.095(k) provides, in part:

In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation . . . or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.  The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer.  The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded.

Under our regulation, 8 AAC 45.090(b), we can order the employer to pay for examinations of the employee under AS 23.30.095(k) or AS 23.30.110(g).  We have long considered subsections 
AS 23.30.095(k) and AS 23.30.110(g) to be procedural in nature, not substantive, for the reasons outlined in Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage,
 and Harvey v. Cook Inlet Pipe Line Co.

AS 23.30.135(a) provides, in part:


In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided in this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .

AS 23.30.155(h) provides, in part:


The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case in which payments are being made with or without an award, where right to compensation is controverted, or where payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, upon receipt of notice from a person entitled to compensation, or from the employer, that the right to compensation is controverted, or that payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

The employee holds an SIME is needed to protect the rights of all parties.  She alleges the employer withheld relevant Shemya Clinic medical records from the EME physicians.  The employee further asserts that despite knowledge that past medical records were withheld from the EME physicians a second, valid EME was not scheduled by the employer.  Based upon these allegations, the employee asserts the EME reports of Drs. Fuller, Reimer and Glass cannot be relied upon because the opinions were overwhelmingly influenced by the withheld Shemya Clinic medical records.  If the EME reports are not striken from the record, the employee argues an SIME should be ordered.  

The employer maintains that any medical disputes in the record are insignificant and, further, that an SIME at this stage of litigation will not be meaningful to assist the Board in deciding the claim.  The employer contends that the three SIME forms filed by the employee that, although confusing, contain one common thread.  Specifically, the employer asserts that none of the SIME forms identify a medical dispute ripe for a SIME.  

The employer maintains that of the employee’s first four attending physicians, three did not support her claim and one supported the defense of the employer.  The employer acknowledges that some of the employee’s more recent providers, such as Dr. Hinman and Dr. Vermillion, have notes in the employee’s chart that contain expressions which appear to support the employee’s claim; however, the employer asserts that none of these reports indicate the employee was forthright regarding her prior history of pre-injury right wrist deQuervain’s or her history of false presentations during medical evaluations.  The employer contends the employee’s more recent providers have been manipulated, thereby rendering their nominally supportive medical opinions insignificant.

Additionally, the employer asserts that an SIME at this juncture will not otherwise assist the Board in determining the rights of the parties, as medical discovery is ongoing.  The employer provides notice to the employee, and the Board, that it has obtained additional medical records, which it intends to provide to the EME panel for updated consideration.  In addition, the employer indicated its intention to provide the employee’s treating physicians with complete medical records, depositions and copies of the surveillance videos.  As such, the employer contends that the medical side of this case remains under investigation, that its development is progressing, and it is premature to order a SIME.

The employer asserts that the employee has repeatedly obstructed discovery, to include her refusal to identify witnesses in Florida able to provide information regarding her level of functioning during the period of time she was there.  The employer urges the Board to weigh this allegation when considering the employee's insistence upon an SIME at this time.  The employer expressed its belief that the employee is attempting to manipulate the SIME process by delaying discovery of information that an SIME physician could consider.

Finally, the employer asserts there is little reason to believe that the employee's current medical providers, when informed of the complete history of the employee's claim, will continue to support her claim.  If so, the employer maintains that an SIME will be pointless and the prudent decision is to permit the medical investigation to continue and make a determination recording whether an SIME will be useful after the record has ripened further.

Pursuant to our authority under AS 23.30.135, the Board has the authority to make our investigation or inquiry in the manner by which we may best ascertain the rights of the parties.  In the instant matter, there exist numerous petitions before the Board.  After the January 23, 2008 hearing, an additional hearing was held on the written record on the employer's December 20, 2007 petition requesting review of the Board Designee’s issuance of a protective order on two modified mental-health releases.
  Pursuant to AS 23.30.135, to best ascertain the rights of the parties, the Board shall address the employee's request petition for an SIME subsequent to considering the party's arguments on the employer's appeal of the Board Designee's discovery order.  We find that in order to ensure the quick, efficient, fair and predictable delivery of benefits pursuant to the Act, and at a reasonable cost to the employer, it is important that the Board identify all inquiries, if any, which we may have for an SIME physician.  Therefore, we shall maintain jurisdiction of the employee's petition for an SIME and issue our decision and order on this request subsequent to our decision and order on the employer's petition requesting review of the Board Designee's issuance of a protective order.

III. EMPLOYEE’S PETITIONS FOR EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE

AS 23.30.135(a) grants the Board broad authority to investigate a claim and conduct hearings in the manner we find shall best ascertain the rights of the parties.  The statute specifically states we are not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided in the Act.
The Board’s regulation at 8 AAC 45.120 provides, in part, as follows:

(e)
Technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in Board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter.  Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which reasonable persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions.  Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but is not sufficient in itself to support a finding of fact unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions.  The rules of privilege apply to the same extent as in civil actions.  Irrelevant or unduly repetitious evidence may be excluded on those grounds.

(f)
any document, including a compensation report, controversion notice, claim, application for adjustment of claim, request for conference, affidavit of readiness for hearing, petition, answer, or a prehearing summary, is served upon the parties, accompanied by proof of service, and that is in the Board's possession 20 or more days before hearing, will, in the Board’s discretion, be relied upon by the Board in reaching a decision unless a written request for an opportunity to cross examine the documents authored filed with the Board and served upon all parties at least 10 days before the hearing.  The right to request cross-examination specified in this subsection does not apply to medical reports filed in accordance with 8 AAC 45.052; a cross-examination request for the author of a medical report must be made in accordance with 8 AAC 45.052.

The importance of Board decisions based upon a complete record of both the employer’s and employee’s evidence has been expounded upon by the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission in Guys with Tools v. Thurston,
 where it stated, in relevant part, as follows:

The exclusion of evidence, whether offered by the employee or the employer, does not serve the interest of the board in obtaining the best and most thorough record on which to base its decision. It results in efforts to exclude relevant evidence based on whether the party complied with formalities, instead of examining the relevance of the evidence to the dispute and, if admitted, the merits of the evidence. . . . 

Proceedings before the board are to be “as summary and simple as possible.”  
AS 23.30.005(h).  The board is not bound by “common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure.”  AS 23.30.135(a). 

The fundamental rule is that “any relevant evidence is admissible.”  
8 AAC 45.120(e).  The result of an exclusionary rule is inherently contrary to the open access to all relevant information regarding the claimant’s injury that the workers‟ compensation statutes are designed to promote. The employee is compelled to release information regarding the reported injury.  AS 23.30.107.  The free and immediate exchange, as well as filing with the board, of all medical records in the possession or control of both parties is required on the filing of a claim, and the duty to disclose and file medical records continues.  
AS 23.30.095(h).  The Board’s procedural regulations state that the Board may rely on any document filed more than 20 days before hearing, provided that a request for cross examination has not been properly filed.  8 AAC 45.120.

The employee has petitioned the Board to exclude from the record in this matter several pieces of evidence; specifically, the August 4, 2003 medical report from Shemya Clinic, EME reports, and surveillance videos.  We shall address each of these below. 

A. Medical Reports

“The central question in most workers’ compensation proceedings is the cause, nature, and/or extent of Employee’s injury.  In the typical case, medical records and doctors’ reports are the most relevant and probative evidence on these issues.”
  In the instant matter, the employee asks that the August 4, 2003 report from the employee’s initial treatment at the time of her report of injury and the EME reports of Drs. Fuller, Reimer and Glass be excluded from the record.  

The employee acknowledges that the August 4, 2003 report from Shemya Clinic contains statements of importance to the employee's claim; specifically, the diagnosis of right deQuervain’s tenosynovitis exacerbation related to repetitive use of the right hand and the recommended treatment of modification of the employee's workstation.  The employee requests that the Board's consideration of this document be limited to the employer's admission of the work relatedness of the employee's injury.  Further, the employee asserts that if her motion to strike is denied, the Board's decision will amount to permitting the employer to rely on evidence impugning the credibility of the employee and denying the employee the opportunity to cross examine the author of the document, Dana Campbell, ANP.

The Board is not persuaded by the employee’s arguments.  As an initial matter, the employee requests that the Board recognize the August 4, 2003 Shemya Clinic medical report for only that information which supports her claim.  We find for the employee’s own purposes, she finds this chart note reliable.  The Board is aware from a thorough review of the record in this matter that the employee had complaints of right deQuervain’s tenosynovitis in late 1998, and that her complaints continued into February of 2000, based upon Dr. Kase’s treatment records.  We find the existence of the employee's right deQuervain's tenosynovitis prior to the August 4, 2003 work injury is clearly demonstrated in the record before the Board.  We conclude the medical record created on August 4, 2003, which mentions the employee’s history of mild, intermittent and controlled right thumb and wrist pain reliable is supported by the medical records from the employee’s treatment with Dr. Kase prior to August 4, 2003.  We shall not exclude the information in the August 4, 2003 Shemya Clinic record, which refers to the employee’s history of mild intermittent, controlled right thumb and wrist pain for ten years.  We do find, however, based upon the medical records in this file, that the employee’s complaints of right deQuervain’s initiated in 1998, when Dr. Kase treated her for left deQuervain’s tenosynovitis.  As a hearing on the merits of this case has not been scheduled and the parties are still conducting discovery, we find ample time exists for development of the record as it pertains to the length of the existence of right deQuervain’s prior to the August 4, 2003 report of injury.

Secondly, we find the medical record authored by Dana Campbell, ANP, a medical provider of the Shemya Clinic, is not subject to the Smallwood rule.  We find Dana Campbell was the medical provider at the Shemya Clinic on the Eareckson Air Base, for which the employer provided support.  However, even if the chart note was subject to the Smallwood rule, in the alternative we would find it admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule.  We find the record was created for the purpose of diagnosis and treatment and conclude that it is admissible under this hearsay exception to the Alaska Rules of Evidence.

In Commercial Union Insurance Companies v. Smallwood,
 the Alaska Supreme Court found “the statutory right to cross-examination is absolute and applicable to the Board.”
 The Court in Smallwood directed the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board to promulgate rules to provide “inexpensive and expeditious resolutions of claims for compensation while affording due process to all concerned parties.”
 As a result, the board adopted 8 AAC 45.120(h), which provides:

If a request is filed in accordance with (f) of this section, an opportunity for cross-examination will be provided unless the request is withdrawn or the board determines that
(1) under a hearsay exception of the Alaska Rules of Evidence, the document is admissible. . . .

8 AAC 45.120(h) was cited, and approved, by the Court in Frazier v. H.C. Price/CIRI Construction, JV,
 limiting the application of Smallwood objections to documents that contained inadmissible hearsay.
   The Court held a party would have to pay its own costs if it wished to cross-examine the author of records admissible under a hearsay exception.
  In addition, the Board adopted 8 AAC 45.052(c)(4):

If an updated medical summary is filed and served less than 20 days before a hearing, the board will rely upon a medical report listed in the updated medical summary only if the parties expressly waive the right to cross-examination, or if the board determines that the medical report listed on the updated summary is admissible under a hearsay exception of the Alaska Rules of Evidence.

Alaska Rule of Evidence 803(4) provides an exception to the hearsay rule for statements made for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment, even if the author is available as a witness and states as follows:

Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment. 

In the instant matter, the Board finds the August 4, 2003 Shemya Clinic chart note is admissible as a hearsay exception under Alaska Rules of Evidence 803(4).  We find the medical record was prepared by Dana Campbell, ANP, at the Shemya Clinic for the purposes of medical diagnosis and treatment; that it described the employee’s medical history, past and present symptoms, pain, and sensations, and the inception and general character of the cause of the employee’s right hand and wrist pain insofar as reasonably pertinent to the diagnosis and treatment.
  

Alaska Rule of Evidence 803(6), also addressing an exception to the hearsay rule, provides that business records are not excluded, even though the declarant is available as a witness, stating as follows:

Business Records.  A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, opinions, or diagnosis, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge acquired of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make and keep the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness. The term "business" as used in this paragraph includes business, institution, association, profession, occupation, and calling of every kind, whether or not conducted for profit. 

The Board has addressed objections to inclusion of evidence in Parker v. Power Constructors,
 Brown-Kinard v. Key Services Corp., and Jensen v. Dames & Moore.
  We find no reason to depart from these precedents formerly established by the Board.  Parker v. Power Constructors,
 stands for the proposition that medical reports may be admitted into the record over a Smallwood objection under the business records exception to the hearsay rule.  In Parker, the Board ruled in favor of the employer who wanted two medical records admitted over the employee’s Smallwood objection.  These records were considered business records and an exception to the hearsay rule.  In Jensen v. Dames & Moore,
 the medical reports and records of one physician and the report of another were admitted over the defense objections for lack of trustworthiness.  The Board order noted that the employer would have ample opportunity to produce rebuttal evidence regarding these records.

In the instant matter, we find a records custodian for the employer qualified to identify and authenticate the chart note, was not presented.  Although we find the chart note in question falls under the hearsay rule exception of Rule 803(4), we find that had a records custodian identified and authenticated the medical record in question, it could also be considered a business record, falling under the hearsay rule exception of Rule 803(6).  We find the record was made by a medical professional at or near the time the information was obtained and on the date the injury was reported.  We find that the record was not made solely for the purpose of litigation.  We find that there is no evidence of lack of trustworthiness shown in the preparation of the document.  The Board also finds that the medical record is admissible as an opinion and as a diagnosis, as cited in Alaska Rule of Evidence Rule 803(6).  Other than lack of authentication, the requirements of Rule 803(6) are met.  The employee’s argument, which appears to allege the chart note lacks trustworthiness, is rejected.

Next, we turn to the employee's objection to the EME reports of Drs. Fuller, Reimer and Glass.  Our statute and our case law strongly favor the development of an inclusive medical record for our consideration.  Under AS 23.30.107(a), an employee must release all evidence “relative” to the injury.  Regarding medical evaluation and discovery process generally, we have long recognized that the Alaska Supreme Court encourages "liberal and wide‑ranging discovery under the Rules of Civil Procedure."
  If it is shown that informal means of developing medical evidence have failed, "we will consider the relevance of the requested information and the method of discovery to be authorized."
  Both AS 23.30.135 and AS 23.30.108(c) grant us broad discretionary authority to make orders that will assure parties obtain the relevant evidence necessary to litigate or resolve their claims.
  AS 23.30.095(e) grants employers the right to have injured workers examined by physicians of the employers’ choosing.  Also, the statute specifically grants the Board authority to order additional examinations to shed light on disputed claims, and to fully develop a record.

On the other hand, we exclude cumulative, repetitious, irrelevant, or non-material evidence from the record.
  We also refuse to order discovery that will not assist us in ascertaining the rights of the parties, or in the resolution of the claim.

Considering the statutory provisions and case law discussed above, we conclude that our record should be open to all evidence “relative” to a claim.
  That is, all evidence relevant or necessary to the resolution of the claim.
  This evidence is to be winnowed in the adversarial process of cross-examination and weighing in a hearing before the Board.
  

We have examined the reports and deposition of Drs. Fuller, Reimer and Glass, and considered the employee’s criticisms of these reports based upon her perception that their opinions were rendered without the opportunity to review a complete record, but which contained a record she finds objectionable, specifically, the August 4, 2003 Shemya Clinic chart note.  We find these reports are clearly evidence “relative” to the employee’s claim.
  We cannot find the reports of Drs. Fuller, Reimer and Glass are cumulative, repetitious, irrelevant, or non-material.  We find these reports are the sort of evidence we must weigh and consider in resolving the disputes and ascertaining the rights of the parties.
  The employee’s criticisms of the reports should be used to critically analyze this evidence in the adversarial process of cross-examination and argument in any hearings concerning the merits of the employee’s claims.
  Accordingly, we will deny the employee’s petition to strike the EME reports.   

As a final matter, with regard to the employee’s petitions to exclude from the record the August 4, 2003 chart note and the EME reports of Drs. Fuller, Reimer and Glass, the Board finds that if we were to accept the employee’s argument, and reject this evidence, we would greatly complicate practice before the Board and run afoul of AS 23.30.005(h), which requires that procedure before the Board be as summary and simple as possible.  We find that to adopt the employee’s approach to striking the August 4, 2003 record and all records developed which considered that chart note, will cause the parties to incur unnecessary fees, costs and litigation.  In this case, the EME reports have been made available to the employer in a timely fashion to allow for cross-examination and development of rebuttal evidence.  Moreover, the employee’s right to investigate the whereabouts of Dana Campbell and cross examine her regarding the August 4, 2003 chart note has not been abrogated.  For all these reasons, the Board shall not exclude the August 4, 2003 chart note or the EME reports of Drs. Fuller, Reimer and Glass from the record in this matter.

B. Surveillance Videos

Information is discoverable under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act if it is “relative” to the employee’s injury or claim.  “We have reached the conclusion that ‘relative to the employee’s injury’ need only have some relationship or connection to the injury.”
  

In the instant matter, the employee does not dispute the relevance of the surveillance videotapes; she does, however, object to their inclusion in the record based upon her allegations that the videotapes have been edited.  The employee contends that the surveillance videos are not “complete” evidence and are not probative to show the extent of the employee’s incapacitation.  Further, the employee argues that the videotapes do not serve to rebut the employee’s testimony that she experiences constant pain.

The employer acknowledges the employee’s concerns regarding whether the videotapes have been edited are valid, as a general matter, under Geister v. Kids Corp., Inc.
  However, the employer maintains that the employee’s allegation that the videotapes were edited is unfounded.  The employer expressed its understanding that the videotapes had not been edited.  Further, the employer notes that even had the videos been edited, as the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission instructed in Geister, the solution to the problem is for the employer to present the videographer for cross-examination.  The employer acknowledges that the employee will have an opportunity to provide her comments or rebuttal to the content of the videotapes at hearing.  

The Board has reviewed the surveillance videotapes and finds the films show the employee engaging in activities in which she uses her right hand and arm.  The Board does not find great significance in the employee’s use of her right arm; however, we do not offer a medical opinion regarding its import and consistency with the employee’s representations regarding disability.  In accord with Rule 26(b)(1) , we find the surveillance videotapes and related reports are relevant to Employee's physical capacities, and so are within the scope of discoverable evidence.
Just as an employee may present alternative theories of causation, so too may an employer present alternative theories in rebuttal.  In Geister, the Board admitted a surveillance video without requiring authentication of the evidence, or testimony from the witness who recorded his observations.  The Board did, however, permit the employer to respond to the content of the tape. The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (“AWCAC”) found the Board abused its discretion in admitting excludable hearsay, but did not find the error was prejudicial.  The AWCAC found that a video recording of an employee’s conduct can be a statement that is inconsistent with an employee’s testimony in hearing or deposition; and that a video can be a statement of the abilities and disabilities of an employee after injury.
  The AWCAC expressed its concern that video recordings offered as an employee’s statement to rebut the employee’s testimony and impeach credibility display sufficient indicia of expression and reliability so as to be admissible as a prior inconsistent statement over an employee’s objections.  The AWCAC held that such videos can be introduced as prior inconsistent statements; however, when the employee’s conduct is recorded without the employee’s knowledge by an employer’s videographer, the AWCAC found the videos are likened more to a witness’s observations than a record of the employee’s own expressive conduct.  Further, the AWCAC recognized that videos can be manipulated and edited, and portions of the employee’s conduct may be omitted, resulting in a recording that is so altered it is not an accurate representation of the employee’s conduct.  In such cases, the AWCAC directed that the recording witness must be available to lay a foundation for admission of the video and for cross-examination.  This places an obligation on the Board, prior to admitting the videotapes into evidence, to require that the videos be authenticated by testimony of the witness who recorded his observations.

We find the employer has not yet requested that the Board rely on the videotapes as evidence in making our final determination.  If the employer intends to rely upon the videotapes as probative, dispositive or rebuttal evidence, we shall order the employer to present the videographers as witnesses to authenticate the videotapes.  We shall then determine the weight to be given the videos.  

ORDER
1. The parties’ stipulation to remand the RBA determination of the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits, based upon the employer’s petition for modification, is granted.  

2. In accord with this decision and order, the RBA shall consider the newly discovered evidence in making a determination regarding the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits.

3. Under AS 23.30.135, the Board retains jurisdiction over the employee’s petition for a SIME.  We shall issue a decision and order on this petition after considering the employer’s petition for appellate review of the Board Designee’s issuance of a protective order against the employee’s mental health records.

4. The employee’s petition for exclusion from the record of the August 4, 2003 Shemya Clinic chart note is denied and dismissed.

5. The employee’s petition for exclusion from the record of the EME reports is denied and dismissed.

6. The employee’s petition for exclusion from the record of the surveillance videos is denied and dismissed.

7. The Board shall retain jurisdiction over further discovery disputes that may arise in this matter.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on February 22 , 2008.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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� AS 23.30.001.


� 4/15/99 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 4/22/99 Closing and Rating Examination, Dr. Kase.


� 2/7/00 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 2/6/03 Chart Note, Shemya Clinic, Jean Luck, PA-C.


� 2/6/03 Handwritten Chart Note with 2/7/03 Note, Jean Luck, PA-C.


� 8/4/03 Chart Note, Shemya Clinic, D. Campbell, ANP.  The Board notes the employee has petitioned that this medical report be excluded from the record in this matter.  The Board’s file does not contain a Report of Injury or Occupational Illness.  Therefore, we rely upon this record as the employee’s first report of injury to the employer.  Based upon the employee’s October 12, 2002 statement and an undated statement made by Sharry Christianson, we are aware the employee’s wrists were grabbed by Don DeArmoun on October 12, 2002, at a work sponsored Navy party.  A Report of Injury or Occupation Illness regarding this altercation was not filed with the Board. 


� 8/4/03 Chart Note, Shemya Clinic, D. Campbell, ANP.


� 8/7/03 Chart Note, Shemya Clinic, D. Campbell, ANP.


� 8/9/03 Chart Note, Shemya Clinic, D. Campbell, ANP.


� 9/8/03 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 9/10/03, 9/12/03, 9/15/03 Valley Hospital Association, Inc., Occupational Therapy Chart Notes, Shain Zumbrunnen, Occupational Therapist.


� 7/5/04 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 7/13/04 Operative Report, Dr. Kase.


� 8/10/04 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 9/1/04 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� Bowstringing of the dorsal wrist compartment tendons occurs after the compartment has been released.  See 2/5/05 Chart Note, Dr. Seigfried and 10/30/07 Deposition of Dr. Seigfried, pages


� 9/30/04 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 10/28/04 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 2/2/05 Chart Note, Dr. Seigfried.


� 2/21/05 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, PA-C.


� 3/3/05, 3/8/05, 3/10/05, 3/15/05, 3/17/05, 3/22/05, 3/24/05, 3/31/05 Treatment Notes, Health Quest, Therapy, Inc.


� 4/4/05 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, PA-C.


� 4/21/05 Chart Note and 5/11/05 Operative Report, Dr. McNamara.


� 4/27/05 Chart Note, Dr. Beard.


� 5/11/05 Order for Occupational/Physical/Hand Therapy, Dr. McNamara.  See also 5/13/05, 5/16/05, 5/18/05, 5/24/05, 5/26/05, 5/31/05, 6/2/05 Treatment Notes, Health Quest Therapy, Inc.


� 6/9/05 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, PA-C.


� 6/9/05 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Lois Michaud, Ph.D.


� 6/14/05, 6/16/05, 6/21/05, 6/28/05, 6/30/05, 7/6/05, 7/8/05, 7/12/05, 7/14/05, 7/22/05, 7/26/05, 7/28/05, 8/4/05, 8/9/05, Treatment Notes, Health Quest, Therapy, Inc.


� 6/27/05 Advanced Health Psychology Psychiatric Evaluation Summary, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Connie Judd, BC, MS, RN, ANP, Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner, Board Certified Clinical Specialist.


� 6/29/05 Chart Note, Dr. Prieto.


� 7/5/05 Chart Note, Dr. McNamara.


� 7/6/05, 7/8/05, 7/12/05, 7/14/05, 7/22/05, 7/26/05, 7/28/05, 8/4/05, 8/9/05 Treatment Notes, Health Quest Therapy.


� 8/9/05 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, PA-C.  See also 8/11/05, 8/16/05, 8/18/05, 8/23/05, 8/25/05, 8/30/05, 9/2/05, 9/6/05, 9/8/05 Treatment Notes, health Quest Therapy.


� 8/10/05, 8/18/05, 9/1/05 Progress Notes, Advanced Health Psychology, Lois Michaud, Ph.D.


� 9/19/05 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Connie Judd, ANP.


� 9/20/05 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, PA-C.


� 9/22/05 Treatment Note, Health Quest Therapy.


� 9/28/05 Physical Work Performance Evaluation Summary, Advanced Physical Therapy of Alaska, Chad Ross, DPT, CSCS, at 1.


� Id., at 1 and 2.


� Id., at 5.


� 9/28/05 Permanent Partial Impairment Rating, Advanced Sports Medicine and Rehab, Dr. Prieto.


� 10/20/05 Chart Note, Dr. McNamara.


� 10/27/05 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Lois Michaud, Ph.D.


� 11/2/05 Chart Note, Dr. McNamara.


� 11/2/05 Letter to Linda Rockstad from Dr. McNamara.


� 11/9/05 Letter to Linda Rockstad from Dr. Prieto.


� 12/15/05 Plan of Care, Rehabilitation & Sports Medicine, Dr. Beard.


� 12/15/05 Rehabilitation & Sports Medicine, Dr. Beard, at 2.


� Id.


� 12/15/05 Rehabilitation & Sports Medicine, Dr. Beard.


� 12/15/05 Evaluation Report, Dr. Beard.


� 1/4/06 Consultation Report, Dr. Polston.


� 1/5/06 Job Description Review, Dr. Beard, at 1.


� Id.


� 1/5/06 Response to question regarding PPI, and DOT/SCODOT Job Descriptions, Dr. Beard.


� 1/16/06 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Connie Judd, ANP.


� 1/18/06 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Dr. Polston.


� 1/19/06 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Lois Michaud, Ph.D.


� Employer’s Medical Evaluation (“EME”) pursuant to AS 23.30.095.


� 2/20/06 EME Report, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer, at 20.


� Id.


� Id., at 22.


� Id.


� Id., at 23.


� Id.


� Id., at 24.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id., at 25.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id., at 26.


� Id.


� 2/20/06 EME Report, Dr. Glass, at 9.


� Id., at 10.


� Id., at 11.


� Id.


� Id., at 12.


� Id., at 13.


� Id., at 14.


� 4/7/06 Dr. Beard’s responses to questions posed by Sherrie Riggs, Ward North America, at 1-2.


� Id., at 2.


� Id.


� Id., at 3.


� 5/10/06 Chart Note, Garden Urgent Care.


� 5/11/06 Operative Note, St. Mary’s Medical Center.


� 5/18/06 Operative Note, St. Mary’s Medical Center.


� 8/14/06 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, John A. Hinman, M.D. 


� 8/16/06 Progress Note, Advanced Behavioral Health, Connie Judd, Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner.


� 8/30/06 Procedure Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Dr. Hinman.


� 9/12/06 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Dr. Hinman.


� 9/14/06 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Lois Michaud, Ph.D., Licensed Psychologist.


� 9/14/06 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Connie Judd, ANP.


� 12/5/06 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Center of Alaska, Dr. Hinman.


� 12/4/06 Certification of Medical Status.


� 1/12/07 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Dr. Hinman.


� 3/7/07 Letter To Whom It May Concern from Connie Judd, Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner.


� 5/2/07 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Dr. Hinman.


� 5/22/07 Chart Note, Dr. Vermillion.


� 5/29/07 Letter to Dr. Vermillion from Dr. Johnston.


� 6/20/07 Chart Note, Dr. Vermillion.


� 9/5/07 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Dr. Hinman.


� 1/9/08 Chart Note, Dr. Vermillion.


� 1/15/08 MRI Right Elbow, John Stella, M.D.


� 1/15/08 MRI Right Wrist, John Stella, M.D.


� 2/6/06 Eligibility Determination.


� 4/6/06 Vocational on Hold Report, Alizon White, Rehabilitation Specialist, Northern Rehabilitation Services.


� 7/28/06 Vocational Closure Report.


� 11/7/06 Letter to Linda Rockstad from Alizon White, Rehabilitation Specialist, Northern Rehabilitation Services.


� 10/16/06 Employer’s Petiton.


� Social Security Administration Itemized Statement of Earnings for the employee for the period January 1993 through September 2005.


� The employer asserts that the employee worked for Taco Bell from 1991 to 1995; however, the employee's response to the employer's informal discovery request indicates that the employee worked at Taco Bell as an assistant store manager from 1990 to 1991.


� 7/31/07 Letter to Douglas Saltzman, RBA, from Mary Thoeni.


� 8/3/07 Letter to Douglas Saltzman, RBA, from Robert Bredesen.


� 8/6/07 Letter to Douglas Saltzman, RBA, from Mary Thoeni.


� 8/15/07 Letter to Linda Rockstad from Alizon White.


� 8/17/07 Informal Rehabilitation Conference Summary.


� Id.


� 8/20/07 Employer’s Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on its Petition dated 10/16/06.


� 8/21/07 Letter to Douglas Saltzman, RBA, from Mary Thoeni.


� 8/22/07 Letter to Douglas Saltzman, RBA, from Mary Thoeni.


� Id.


� 8/30/07 Letter to Alizon White from Mary Thoeni.


� 9/11/07 Letter to Alizon White from Mary Thoeni.


� 9/12/07 Letter to RBA Designee Faith White from Mary Thoeni.


� 9/12/07 Employee’s Petition.


� 10/5/07 Employee’s Petition.


� 10/3/07 Prescription Note, Dr. Hinman.


� 10/3/07 Prescription Note, Dr. Hinman.  Own


� 10/11/07 Letter to Alizon White and Faith White from Robert Bredesen.


� 10/31/07 Employer’s Answer to Employee’s 10/5/07 Petition.


� 4/28/07 Employee's Petition.


� 8/16/07 Employer's Answer to Employee’s 4/28/07 Petition to Exclude Surveillance Video Evidence.


� 6/15/07 Employee’s Petition.


� 5/1/07 SIME Forms: Chronic Pain / Depression; Right Elbow; Right DeQuervain’s Stenosing Tenosynovitis.


� Id.


� 8/16/07 Employer's Answer to Employee's Petition Dated 6/15/07 Requesting an SIME in to Exclude Medical Reports.


� Id.


� Id.


� 884 P.2d 156, 161 (Alaska 1994)


� See Hodges v. Alaska Constructors, 957 P2d 957 (Alaska 1998).
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� See, e.g., Imhof v. Eagle River Refuse, AWCB Decision No. 94-0330 (December 29, 1994). 


� Allred v. Subway of Mat-Su, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 05-0316 (December 5, 2005); Griffiths v. Andy’s Body & Frame, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 03-0130 (June 6, 2003).  


� See, e.g., Brown v. Asbestos Removal Specialists, AWCB Decision No. 03-0131 (June 6, 2003).
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� 700 P.2d at 1297; Tobeluk v. Lind, 589 P.2d 873, 878 (Alaska 1979)(footnote omitted).


� See, Manthey v. Collier, 367 P.2d 884, 889 (Alaska 1962); Super v. Providence Hospital, AWCB No. 90-0042 (March 12, 1990); Black's Law Dictionary 25 (7th ed. 1999).


� AS 44.62.570.


� Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978)(footnotes omitted).
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� 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976).


� Id., citing Employer Commercial Union Ins. Group v. Schoen, 519 P.2d 819, at 824 (Alaska 1974). 
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� AWCB Decision No. 00-0198 (September 14, 2000).


� Id., at 11.
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